OPTOMETRY: THE PRIMARY EYE CARE PROFESSION

Doctors of optometry are independent primary health care providers who examine, diagnose, treat, and manage diseases and disorders of the visual system, the eye, and associated structures as well as diagnose related systemic conditions.

Optometrists provide more than two-thirds of the primary eye care services in the United States. They are more widely distributed geographically than other eye care providers and are readily accessible for the delivery of eye and vision care services. There are approximately 32,000 full-time equivalent doctors of optometry currently in practice in the United States. Optometrists practice in more than 7,000 communities across the United States, serving as the sole primary eye care provider in more than 4,300 communities.

The mission of the profession of optometry is to fulfill the vision and eye care needs of the public through clinical care, research, and education, all of which enhance the quality of life.





OPTOMETRIC CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINE PEDIATRIC EYE AND VISION EXAMINATION

Reference Guide for Clinicians

First Edition Originally Prepared by (and Second Edition Reviewed by) the American Optometric Association Consensus Panel on Pediatric Eye and Vision Examination:

Mitchell M. Scheiman, O.D., M.S., Principal Author Catherine S. Amos, O.D. Elise B. Ciner, O.D. Wendy Marsh-Tootle, O.D. Bruce D. Moore, O.D. Michael W. Rouse, O.D., M.S.

Reviewed by the AOA Clinical Guidelines Coordinating Committee:

John C. Townsend, O.D., Chair (2nd Edition) John F. Amos, O.D., M.S. (1st and 2nd Editions) Kerry L. Beebe, O.D. (1st Edition) Jerry Cavallerano, O.D., Ph.D. (1st Edition) John Lahr, O.D. (1st Edition) W. Howard McAlister, O.D., M.P.H. (2nd Edition) Stephen C. Miller, O.D. (2nd Edition) Richard Wallingford, Jr., O.D. (1st Edition)

Approved by the AOA Board of Trustees June 23, 1994 (1st Edition), Revised September 1997, and April 25, 2002 (2nd Edition)

© American Optometric Association 1994, 2002 243 N. Lindbergh Blvd., St. Louis, MO 63141-7881

Printed in U.S.A.

NOTE: Clinicians should not rely on the Clinical Guideline alone for patient care and management. Refer to the listed references and other sources for a more detailed analysis and discussion of research and patient care information. The information in the Guideline is current as of the date of publication. It will be reviewed periodically and revised as needed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRO	ODUC'	TION.		1
I.	STA	TEM	ENT OF THE PROBLEM	3
	Ă.	Epid	emiology of Eve and Vision Disorders in Children	6
	B.	The	Pediatric Eye and Vision Examination	8
II.	CA	RE PR	OCESS	13
	A.	Exar	nination of Infants and Toddlers	13
		1.	General Considerations	13
		2.	Early Detection and Prevention	13
		3.	Examination Sequence	14
			a. Patient History	14
			b. Visual Acuity	14
			c. Refraction	16
			d. Binocular Vision and Ocular Motility	18
			e. Ocular Health Assessment and Systemic He	ealth
			Screening	19
			f. Assessment and Diagnosis	21
	В.	Exar	nination of Preschool Children	22
		1.	General Considerations	22
		2.	Early Detection and Prevention	22
		3.	Examination Sequence	23
			a. Patient History	23
			b. Visual Acuity	23
			c. Refraction	24
			d. Binocular Vision, Accommodation, and Oc	ular
			Motility	25
			e. Ocular Health Assessment and Systemic He	ealth
			Screening	26
			f. Supplemental Testing	27
			g. Assessment and Diagnosis	28
	C.	Exar	nination of School-Age Children	28
		1.	General Considerations	28
		2.	Early Detection and Prevention	29
		3.	Examination Sequence	29
			a. Patient History	29
			b. Visual Acuity	30
			c. Refraction	30

			d.	Binocular Vision, Accommodation, and Ocular
				Motility
			e.	Ocular Health Assessment and Systemic Health
				Screening
			f.	Supplemental Testing 33
			g.	Assessment and Diagnosis
	D.	Maı	nagemen	of Children
		1.	Patier	nt Education
		2.	Coord	lination, Frequency, and Extent of Care
CONCL	USIO	N		
III.	REFI	ERE	NCES.	
IV.	APPI	END	IX	
	Figure	e 1:	Pediatri	Eye and Vision Examination: A Brief
			Flowcha	rt 53
	Figure	e 2:	Potentia	l Components of the Eye and Vision Examination
			for Infai	ts and Toddlers 54
	Figure	e 3:	Potentia	l Components of the Eye and Vision Examination
			for Pres	chool Children 55
	Figure	e 4:	Potentia	l Components of the Eye and Vision Examination
			for Scho	ol-Age Children
Abbrevia	tions of	Con	nmonly U	sed Terms
Glossary	•••••			

INTRODUCTION

Optometrists, through their clinical education, training, experience, and broad geographic distribution, have the means to provide effective primary eye and vision services to children in the United States. Primary care has been described as those services provided to patients by a health care practitioner "who knows them, who is available for first contact and continuing care, and who offers a portal of entry to specialists for those conditions warranting referral."¹ Eye care serves as an important point of entry into the health care system because:

- Virtually all people need eye care services at some time in their lives.
- By its very nature, eye care provides for the evaluation, assessment, and coordination of a broad spectrum of health care needs.
- Eye care is a nonthreatening form of health care, particularly to patients who are reluctant to seek general or preventive medical care.²

This Optometric Clinical Practice Guideline for the Pediatric Eye and Vision Examination describes appropriate examination procedures for evaluation of the eye health and vision status of infants and children to reduce the risk of vision loss and facilitate normal visual development. It contains recommendations for timely diagnosis, intervention, and, when necessary, consultation or referral for treatment by another health care provider. This Guideline will assist optometrists in achieving the following goals:

- Develop an appropriate timetable for eye and vision examinations for pediatric patients
- Select appropriate examination procedures for all pediatric patients
- Examine the eye health and visual status of pediatric patients effectively
- Minimize or avoid the adverse effects of eye and vision problems in children through early identification, education, treatment, and prevention
- Inform and educate patients, parents/caregivers, and other health care providers about the importance and frequency of pediatric eye and vision examinations.

Introduction 1

I. STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

In 2000 the U.S. Census Bureau reported that there were 72.3 million children under 18 years of age in the United States (26% of the population) and the numbers in this age group, with its growth rate of 13.7 percent, were increasing faster than in any other segment of the population.³ Vision disorders are the fourth most common disability in the United States and the most prevalent handicapping condition during childhood.⁴ In spite of the high prevalence of vision disorders in this population, studies show that only about 31 percent of children between ages 6 and 16 years are likely to have had a comprehensive eye and vision examination within the past year, while below the age of 6, only about 14 percent are likely to have had an eye and vision examination.⁵ In a study of 5,851 children 9 to 15 years of age, nearly 20 percent needed glasses but only 10 percent of that group already had them.⁶ Thus, 90 percent of those children requiring prescription eyeglasses were not wearing them. Why so few children receive professional eye care is unknown. Possible explanations include a reliance on pediatricians, other primary care physicians, or school screenings, many uninsured parents' or caregivers' inability to pay for the needed services, and parents' or caregivers' lack of knowledge that early professional eve care is needed to prevent unnecessary loss of vision as well as to improve educational readiness.

Unfortunately, undue reliance on vision screening by pediatricians or other primary care physicians may result in the late detection of amblyopia and other vision disorders. One study reported that in a sample of 102 private pediatric practices in the United States, vision screening was attempted on only 38 percent of 3-year-old children and 81 percent of 5-year-old children. The study also showed that only 26 percent of children failing the American Academy of Pediatrics vision screening guidelines were referred for a professional eye examination.⁷ The American Public Health Association adopted a resolution that recognizes the shortcomings of vision screenings, encourages regular eye examinations at the ages of 6 months, 2 years, and 4 years, and urges pediatricians to recommend that all children receive eye examinations at these intervals.⁸ Healthy People 2010, a national disease prevention initiative of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, also

Statement of the Problem 5

recognizes the importance of preventive vision care.⁹ One of its goals is to improve the visual health of the Nation through prevention, early detection, treatment, and rehabilitation. These national efforts to inform the public about the importance of early eye care and the current limitations of vision screening are issues that all optometrists need to discuss within every community until all children receive professional eye examinations on a regular basis throughout childhood (see Table 1).

Table 1

COMPARISON OF RECOMMENDED COMPONENTS FOR A PEDIATRIC COMPREHENSIVE EYE EXAMINATION VERSUS A VISION SCREENING

Comprehensive Eye Examination			Vision Screening					
	AOA ¹	AAO ²	Modified Clinical Technique ³	School Nurses ⁴	AAP ⁵	PBA ⁶	Head Start ⁷	
Patient history Chief complaint	х	х						
history	х	Х		Observation		Observation		
General health history Family medical	х	х						
history Developmental	Х	Х						
history	Х	Х						
Visual acuity measurement	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Measurement of refractive error								
Retinoscopy	х	х	х	Plus lens test				
Cover test	х	X	Х	X	Х	Optional	X	
Near point of convergence	Х							
Stereopsis	х			Х	х	Optional		
Positive and negative fusional	x							
Versions	X	X		Tracking				

The interrelationships between vision problems and learning difficulties and the cost of undetected vision problems to society are of concern.¹⁰ Vision problems generally are not the direct cause of learning disorders; however, they can interfere with children's abilities to perform to their potential. When children fail to progress in school, the cost to the individual and society can be substantial.

Over the past 30 years, studies have shown the need for earlier eye examination and treatment and have resulted in clinical advances that enable more effective preventive eye care for infants and preschool children.¹¹⁻²¹ Extensive research has demonstrated the importance of the first few years of life in the development of vision. Within the first 6 months of life, rapid changes occur in most components of the visual system including visual acuity,^{11,12} accommodation,^{13,14} and binocular vision.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ Interference with development during this very critical phase may lead to serious lifelong effects on vision.¹⁸ Successful treatment can be obtained more quickly with early intervention.²¹⁻²⁴

An outgrowth of this research is the development of new clinical procedures appropriate for the evaluation of vision in infants and toddlers.^{17,25-36} Clinicians have gained a better understanding of both the characteristics and processes of vision development in infants and the tools necessary to examine them. As a result, it is now recommended that all children receive regular, professional eye care beginning at 6 months of age after an initial eye screening at birth, typically performed by the pediatrician.^{8,37}

A. Epidemiology of Eye and Vision Disorders In Children

One of the largest studies reporting the prevalence of specific vision disorders in children was conducted as part of the Health Examination Surveys of 1963-65.³⁸ Data were collected from a sample of 7,119 noninstitutionalized children 6-11 years of age who received standardized eye examinations. Of the children examined, 9.2 percent had an eye muscle imbalance, a disease condition, or other abnormality in one or both eyes. Approximately 2.4 percent had constant strabismus and 4.3 percent had significant heterophoria. The combined prevalence

of eyelid conditions (hordeola, conjunctivitis, and blepharitis) was about 1 percent.

The second phase of that research project determined the prevalence of eye disorders in 12- to 17-year-olds.³⁹ Of the 6,768 children examined, 7.9 percent had an eye muscle imbalance, a disease condition, or other abnormality in one or both eyes; approximately 3.4 percent had constant strabismus, and 1.8 percent had significant heterophoria. The prevalence of conjunctivitis was 0.6 percent, and that of blepharitis, 0.3 percent.

A more recent review of the literature found the following prevalence figures for eye and vision problems in children: amblyopia, 2-3 percent; strabismus, 3-4 percent; refractive errors, 15-30 percent; and ocular disease, less than 1 percent.⁴⁰ A large-scale prospective study of the prevalence of vision disorders and ocular disease focused on a clinical population of children between the ages of 6 months and 18 years. Comprehensive eye examinations performed on 2,025 consecutive patients showed that, in addition to refractive anomalies, the most common conditions optometrists are likely to encounter in this population are binocular vision and accommodative disorders (see Table 2).⁴¹

	Prevalence*			
Disorder	Ages 6 months to 5 years 11 months	Ages 6 years to 18 years		
······				
Hyperopia	33%	23%		
Astigmatism	22.5%	22.5%		
Myopia	9.4%	20.2%		
Nonstrabismic binocular disorders	5.0%	16.3%		
Strabismus	21.1%	10%		
Amblyopia	7.9%	7.8%		
Accommodative disorders	1.0%	6.0%		
Peripheral retinal abnormalities requirir referral or followup care	ng 0.5%	2.0%		

Table 2Vision Disorders in a Clinical Population of Children

• Findings are based on a specialized clinical population and may not be representative of vision problems in the general population.

Source: Scheiman M, Gallaway M, Coulter R, et al. Prevalence of vision and ocular disease conditions in a clinical pediatric population. J Am Optom Assoc 1996; 67:193-202.

B. The Pediatric Eye and Vision Examination

The term "pediatric population" can be applied to patients within a broad age range, including all those between birth and 18 years of age. Although the capabilities and needs of children vary significantly, the pediatric population can be divided into three subcategories.⁴²⁻⁴⁴

- Infants and toddlers (birth to 2 years, 11 months)
- Preschool children (3 years to 5 years, 11 months)
- School-age children (6 to 18 years).

This subdivision of the pediatric population is based on the developmental changes that occur from birth through childhood. Clinical experience and research have shown that at 6 months the average child has reached a number of critical developmental milestones, making this an appropriate age for the first eye and vision examination. At this age the average child can sit up with support and cognitively is concerned with immediate sensory experiences.⁴⁵ Visual acuity,¹² accommodation,^{13,14} stereopsis, and other aspects of the infant's visual system have developed rapidly, reaching adult levels by the age of 6 months (see Table 3).^{15,25}

TABLE 3

VISUAL DEVELOPMENT INVENTORY

VISUAL DEVELOPMENT INVENTORY	Newborn	1 Month	2 Months	4 Months	6 Months	9 Months	12 Months	18 Months	24 Months	3 Years
OCULOMOTOR Fixation Saccades	To face —									-
H	÷ —								One shift	
V Domenia	θ	θ	÷ —	0					to target	
Pursuits Vienelle, dimented anothing	θ	θ	Emerging		0					
Visually directed reaching	θ	θ	A	?	• —					-
Face regard	⊕ Acromotria	Acromotria	Agroppostria	Acromatria	Summatria					
UKN: 1-N and N-1 response	Asymmetric	Asymmetric	Asymmetric	Asymmetric	symmetric —					_
ACUITY	20/400	20/300	20/150		20/50			20/40	20/30	20/20
Preferential	to	to	to —		to —			to	to	
Looking OU	20/1200	20/1200	20/600	ŗ	20/200		ŕ	20/100	20/80	
Visual Evoked Response VEP OU	20/100	20/200	20/80		20/40					
BINOCULARITY								Adultlike levels		
Alignment		⊕ —					→	of Angle Lambda 🗕		→
Near point of convergence	Up to 10 in			→	To nose 🗕					→
Fixation of moving target	θ	θ		Response \oplus -						→
10 ∆ response	θ	θ			70% of time 🗕					→
Stereopsis	None			Emerging	Well developed					
ACCOMMODATION				Well de	veloped					
Accuracy	Accurate for				Accurate for					→
Lao	30 em (12 in)			+0.75	/5 to 150 em					_ _
PUPIL RESPONSES	⊕et 't	Well		TU./J						-
T OT TE REST ONSES	TSiuggisn	developed								→
Color Vision	Notices color Can't distinguish R, G, or Y		Distinguishes R-G not Y-G	Recognizes similar hues within color group						Normal
Blink response			. —							_
to visual threat			Ð							•
Contrast sensitivity			Adult-l	ike low						Adult-like
tunction			frequency	attenuation						btwn 3-5 yr
(Courtesy of Dr. Janice Scha	ure, Illinois Co	llege of Optom	etry, Chicago.)			Key:⊕ ⊖	Emerging Not existin Continues	g	R = Red G = Green Y = Yellow	

At about 3 years of age children have achieved adequate receptive and expressive language skills to begin to cooperate for some of the traditional eye and vision tests. However, the examiner often needs to make modifications in the testing to gather useful information. By 6 years of age, the child has matured to the point that many adult tests can be used, with minor procedural modifications. Because a child can vary significantly from expected age norms, it is important not to rely solely upon chronological age when choosing testing procedures. Appropriate test procedures need to be based on the child's developmental age and specific capability.

The goals of the pediatric eye and vision examination are several (see Appendix Figure 1):

- Evaluate the functional status of the eyes and visual system, taking into account each child's level of development
- Assess ocular health and related systemic health conditions
- Establish a diagnosis and formulate a treatment plan
- Counsel and educate parents/caregivers regarding their child's visual, ocular, and related health care status, including recommendations for treatment, management, and preventive care.

II. CARE PROCESS

A. Examination of Infants and Toddlers

1. General Considerations

This section of the Guideline describes optometric procedures for examining infants and toddlers from birth to 2 years, 11 months of age. The examination components are described in general terms and are not intended to be all inclusive. Professional judgment and individual patient symptoms, findings, and cooperation may have significant impact on the nature and course of the examination.

Children in this age group generally perform best if the examination takes place when they are alert. Examination early in the morning or after an infant's nap is usually most effective. Because infants tend to be more cooperative and alert when feeding, it is also helpful to suggest that the parent bring a bottle for the child.

Age-appropriate examination and management strategies should be used. Major modifications include relying more on objective examination procedures and performing tests considerably more rapidly than with older children.⁴³

2. Early Detection and Prevention

Early detection and treatment are essential to preventing vision conditions that have the potential to cause permanent loss of vision. Screening by the pediatrician or other primary care physician is important at birth and during the first 6 months of life when the visual system is highly susceptible to interference. However, screening this population has been problematic, leading to underdetection of strabismus, amblyopia, and significant refractive error.^{5,46} Newer screening techniques such as photorefraction are available,^{36,47-50} but until they are validated, an eye and vision examination at 6 months of age is the best approach for early detection and prevention of eye and vision problems in infants and toddlers (see Table 3).

3. Examination Sequence

The eye and vision examination of the infant or toddler may include, but is not limited to, the following procedures (see Appendix Figure 2):

a. Patient History

A comprehensive patient history for infants and toddlers may include:

- Nature of the presenting problem, including chief complaint
- Visual and ocular history
- General health history, including prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal history and review of systems
- Family eye and medical histories
- Developmental history of the child.

The collection of demographic data generally precedes the taking of the patient history. Having the parent(s) fill out a questionnaire facilitates obtaining the patient history.⁴³ Responses to questions related to the mother's pregnancy, birth of the child, and the child's general and vision development will help direct the remainder of the examination.

b. Visual Acuity

Assessment of visual acuity for infants and toddlers may include these procedures:

- Fixation preference tests
- Preferential looking visual acuity test.

Estimation of visual acuity in an infant or toddler can help to confirm or reject certain hypotheses about the level of binocularity and provides direction for the remainder of the examination. Because subjective visual acuity testing requiring verbal identification of letters or symbols demands sustained attention, this test cannot be used with infants and toddlers. However, other tests may be used to make assumptions about visual acuity. For example, when a unilateral, constant strabismus is present, visual acuity is presumed to be reduced in the strabismic eye. In the presence of a constant, alternating strabismus, visual acuity is likely to be normal in both eyes.

In the absence of strabismus, fixation preference testing with a vertical base up or base down 10 prism diopter (PD) lens to create diplopia has been shown to be effective in detecting about a three-line visual acuity difference between the eyes and identifying moderate to severe amblyopia.⁵¹ Specific clinical guidelines have been developed to estimate visual acuity on the basis of the strength of fixation preference.^{52, 53} A study of fixation preference testing demonstrated that the fixation pattern can be rapidly assessed and confirmed the usefulness of a graded assessment of the binocular fixation pattern in the detection of amblyopia.⁵⁴

Before the advent of behavioral and electrophysiological procedures, indirect methods were all that were available to clinicians for assessing visual acuity in preverbal children. As more direct assessment procedures were developed, it became evident that although fixation preference is helpful in detecting amblyopia, it is not always an accurate predictor of visual acuity. Preferential looking acuity and fixation preference do not show a strong association.^{55,56}

Clinical use of preferential looking acuity is generally very successful. Teller acuity cards can be used with infants and young children until they are ready for more subjective testing.^{33,57-59} However, underestimation of visual acuity loss in patients with strabismic amblyopia on the basis of grating acuity (preferential looking acuity) limits the usefulness of this test.⁶⁰⁻⁶⁵ When in doubt, the optometrist can refer the child for electrodiagnostic testing, such as visual evoked potentials, which has been shown to be an important method for direct assessment of visual acuity in infants.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸

If clinical evaluation of an infant or toddler by indirect visual acuity testing, refraction, and ocular health assessment indicates any problem with visual acuity, forced-choice preferential looking with the Teller acuity cards or electrodiagnostic testing should be considered to obtain a more precise measure of baseline visual acuity. Consultation with an optometrist or ophthalmologist who has advanced clinical training or

experience with preferential looking assessment or electrophysiological evaluation of visual acuity may be warranted.

c. Refraction

Traditional subjective procedures for the assessment of refractive error may be ineffective with infants or toddlers because of short attention span and poor fixation.⁶⁹ As a result, the examiner will need to rely on objective measures of refraction. The two most commonly used procedures are:

- Cycloplegic retinoscopy
- Near retinoscopy.

It is important for the examiner performing cycloplegic retinoscopy in an infant or toddler to take several precautions:⁷⁰

- Select the cycloplegic agent carefully (e.g., fair-skinned children with blue eyes may exhibit an increased response to drugs and darkly pigmented children may require more frequent or stronger dosages).
- Avoid overdosage (e.g., children with Down syndrome, cerebral palsy, trisomy 13 and 18, and other central nervous system disorders in whom there may be an increased reaction to cycloplegic agents, 1% tropicamide may be used).
- Be aware of biologic variations in children (e.g., low weight infants may require a modified dosage).

Cyclopentolate hydrochloride^{*1} is the cycloplegic agent of choice. One drop should be instilled twice, 5 minutes apart, in each eye, using a strength of 0.5% for children from birth to 1 year and 1% for older children.⁷¹ Spray administration of the drug appears to be a viable alternative to the use of conventional eye drops for routine cycloplegic retinoscopy in the pediatric population.⁷²⁻⁷⁴ The child is asked to keep



his or her eyes gently closed while the examiner sprays the cycloplegic agent on the child's eyelids. As the child blinks, enough of the drug is delivered to the eye to provide adequate cycloplegia. This technique has two advantages: (1) The child has less of an avoidance response, and it may be less traumatic for the child and the parent observing the procedure. (2) A single application can achieve both cycloplegia and pupillary dilation when a mixture of 0.5% cyclopentolate, 0.5% tropicamide, and 2.5% phenylephrine is used. To maintain sterility, it is best to have this spray mixture prepared by a pharmacist. Retinoscopy may be performed 20-30 minutes after instillation.⁷² The use of loose lenses or a lens rack is recommended for retinoscopy.

A study comparing retinoscopy in infants using near retinoscopy, cycloplegia with tropicamide 1%, and cycloplegia with cyclopentolate 1% found that tropicamide may be a useful alternative in many healthy, nonstrabismic infants.⁷⁵

Near retinoscopy is another objective method of estimating refractive error in infants and toddlers.³⁰ However, it has not been found reliable for quantification of the refractive error.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸

Near retinoscopy may have some clinical value in the following situations:

- When frequent followup is necessary
- When the child is extremely anxious about instillation of cycloplegic agents
- When the child has had or is at risk for an adverse reaction to cyclopentolate or tropicamide.

The average refractive error in children from birth to 1 year of age is about 2 diopters (D) of hyperopia (standard deviation 2 D).⁷⁹ Astigmatism up to 2 D is common in children under 3 years of age. Studies show that 30-50 percent of infants less than 12 months of age have significant astigmatism, which declines over the first few years of life, becoming stable by approximately $2\frac{1}{2}$ to 5 years of age.⁸⁰⁻⁸¹ Low amounts of anisometropia are common and variable in infants. The clinician may choose to monitor these levels of refractive error rather than prescribe a lens correction.



Every effort has been made to ensure that drug dosage recommendations are accurate at the time of publication of this Guideline. However, treatment recommendations change due to continuing research and clinical experience, and clinicians should verify drug dosage schedules with product information sheets.

d. Binocular Vision and Ocular Motility

The following procedures are useful for assessing binocular function:

- Cover test
- Hirschberg test
- Krimsky test
- Brückner test
- Versions
- Near point of convergence.

The cover test is the procedure of choice for evaluation of binocular vision in preverbal children because it is objective and requires little time to administer. If the cover test results are unreliable because of the child's resistance to testing, other methods may be used. In such cases, use of the Hirschberg test is often successful in infants 6 months and younger. Prisms can be used with the Hirschberg test to align the corneal reflections (Krimsky test) and determine the magnitude of the deviation.

The Brückner test is another means of objectively assessing binocular vision, as well as providing an indirect evaluation of refractive error. When both eyes are simultaneously illuminated with the ophthalmoscope beam at a distance of 100 cm, an overall whitening of the red reflex across the entire pupil of one eye indicates strabismus or anisometropic amblyopia. While the absence of a Brückner reflex is not a good indication of alignment, the presence of a Brückner reflex is considered a positive result, and is a good indication of strabismus, even of small amounts. Once detected with the Brückner reflex, the deviation should be quantified with the cover test or Krimsky technique.

Additional binocular testing often can be performed successfully with infants and toddlers. For example, preferential looking techniques can be used to assess stereopsis with some success.^{17, 82,83}

Assessment of extraocular muscle function and concomitancy may involve version testing with an appropriate target. If the infant will follow a penlight, observation of the corneal reflections in all cardinal positions of gaze is possible. When a problem is suspected, the cover test procedure should be used for the position of gaze in question. After performing version testing, the clinician may find it useful to move the penlight or other target toward the child to assess objectively the near point of convergence (NPC).

If a binocular vision disorder or an ocular motility problem is suspected, consultation with an optometrist or ophthalmologist who has advanced clinical training or experience with this population may be warranted.

e. Ocular Health Assessment and Systemic Health Screening

An evaluation of ocular health may include:

- Evaluation of the ocular anterior segment and adnexa
- Evaluation of the ocular posterior segment
- Assessment of pupillary responses
- Visual field screening (confrontation).

The diagnosis of eye disease in infants and toddlers presents some unique challenges. Standard procedures such as biomicroscopy, tonometry, and binocular indirect ophthalmoscopy are considerably more difficult in this population.

The cover test and versions, both important binocular vision assessment procedures, are also important for ocular health assessment. For example, the presence of strabismus may indicate any number of disease entities such as neoplasm, neuromuscular disorder, infection, vascular anomaly, or traumatic damage.⁸⁴

The examiner performing external ocular evaluation should gather as much information as possible by gross inspection of the eyes and adnexa. Generally, children up to the age of 6-9 months are sufficiently attracted to lights to permit adequate evaluation using a penlight or transilluminator. With the older infant, it is important to use a variety of interesting targets that can be attached to the transilluminator.⁸⁴ Pupil function (direct, consensual, and afferent pupil integrity) should also be evaluated.

A hand-held biomicroscope may be used for evaluation of the anterior segment or the parent/caregiver may be able to position and hold the infant or toddler in a standard biomicroscope. If a corneal problem is suspected, but use of the biomicroscope is impossible, the optometrist may attempt an examination using sodium fluorescein and a Burton lamp. Another simple alternative is to use a self-illuminated, hand-held magnifying lens, or a 20 D condensing lens with a light source.

Thorough evaluation of the ocular media and the posterior segment generally requires pupillary dilation. Recommended drugs and dosages for pupillary dilation in infants and toddlers are one drop each of tropicamide (0.5%) or cyclopentolate (0.5%) and one drop of phenylephrine (2.5%).⁸⁴ The spray mixture discussed previously is effective in achieving both dilation and cycloplegia in the pediatric population.⁷² Both direct and binocular indirect ophthalmoscopy may be performed after the pupil has dilated. An ideal time for evaluation of the posterior segment is when the infant is in a calm, relaxed, sedated condition (i.e., being bottle fed or sound asleep).⁴⁴ When adequate fundus examination is impossible but is indicated by patient history, examination under sedation or anesthesia may be warranted.

Measuring intraocular pressure (IOP) is not a routine part of the eye examination of the infant or toddler. Although it is extremely rare in this age group, glaucoma may be suspected in the presence of a number of signs (e.g., corneal edema, increased corneal diameter, tearing, and myopia). Measurement of IOP is difficult and the results often are unreliable.^{43,85} However, pressure should be assessed when ocular signs and symptoms or risk factors for glaucoma exist. Measurement of IOP in the pediatric population may be accomplished with hand-held applanation and noncontact tonometers. If risk factors are present and reliable assessment of IOP under standard clinical conditions is impossible, testing under sedation may be appropriate.

When strabismus or other neurological problems are suspected, confrontation visual fields should be attempted with infants and toddlers using a variation of the traditional approach.⁸⁶ A shift in fixation, head movement toward the target, or change in facial expression of the infant can indicate that the target has moved from an unsighted to a sighted

field.⁴³ The clinician should decide when imaging studies are indicated, independently or in consultation with a neurosurgeon or neurologist, on the basis of risk factors and the observation of ocular abnormalities, or signs such as nystagmus, developmental delay, poor growth, regression

During the ocular health assessment and systemic health screening of infants and children of any age, it is important to remember that health care providers are responsible for recognizing and reporting signs of child abuse, a significant problem in the United States. Between 1990 and 1994 reported child abuse cases increased 27 percent, from 800,000 to 1,012,000, with almost half of the victims under the age of 6 years.⁸⁷

Optometrists have a uniquely important role in diagnosing child abuse including Shaken Baby Syndrome (SBS) because external eye trauma, and retinal trauma (hemorrhages, folds, tears, detachments, and schisis) are common ocular findings from child abuse.⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰ SBS is a specific term used to describe a form of child abuse in which the child is injured secondary to violent shaking, which often causes retinal hemorrhaging. Most often the child is between 2 and 18 months of age at the time of abuse.^{91,92}

In many states, optometrists must report suspected child abuse or neglect to the state child welfare service. Failure to report a suspected case of child abuse puts that child, his or her other siblings, and possibly a parent/caregiver in danger of continued abuse at home.

f. Assessment and Diagnosis

of skills, and seizures.

Upon completion of the examination, the optometrist assesses and evaluates the data to arrive at one or more diagnoses and establishes a management plan. In some cases, referral for consultation with or treatment by another optometrist, the patient's pediatrician, primary care physician, or other health care provider may be indicated.

B. Examination of Preschool Children

1. General Considerations

This section of the Guideline describes the optometric examination procedures for preschool children. The examination components are discussed in general terms and are not intended to be all inclusive. Professional judgment and individual patient history, symptoms, findings, and cooperation may have significant impact on the nature and course of the examination.

Although the vast majority of children in this age group can communicate verbally, it is preferable in most cases for the parent/caregiver to accompany the child into the examination room. It is important to ensure that the child feels relaxed and at ease, which is often best accomplished by beginning the examination with procedures that appear less threatening.

Age-appropriate examination and management strategies should be used with preschool children. Major modifications include reliance on objective examination techniques, limited use of subjective techniques requiring verbal interaction, and performing testing considerably more rapidly than is typically used for older children.

2. Early Detection and Prevention

A common approach to early detection and prevention of vision problems in preschool children is vision screening by pediatricians or other primary care physicians or lay screeners. Screenings for this population are less problematic than for infants and toddlers because some subjective testing is possible; however, screenings are less accurate for preschool children than for older children.⁹³⁻⁹⁵ Reasonably accurate screening tests are available for the assessment of many visual functions. The problem with many vision screenings, however, is that they are limited in scope. They may detect only visual acuity problems and may fail to detect other important vision problems, leading to parents' or caregivers' false sense of security. A comprehensive eye examination at 3 years of age continues to be the most effective approach to prevention or early detection of eye and vision problems in the preschool child.

3. Examination Sequence

The pediatric eye and vision examination of the preschool child may include, but is not limited to, the following (see Appendix Figure 3):

a. Patient History

A comprehensive patient history for the preschool child may include:

- Nature of the presenting problem, including chief complaint
- Visual and ocular history
- General health history, including prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal history and review of systems
- Family eye and medical histories
- Developmental history of the child.

The collection of demographic data generally precedes the taking of the patient history. Having the parent(s) or caregiver(s) complete a questionnaire in advance of the examination facilitates obtaining the patient history.⁴³

b. Visual Acuity

An assessment of visual acuity usually includes one of the following procedures:

- Lea Symbols chart
- Broken Wheel acuity cards
- HOTV test.

By 3 years of age, most children have the necessary behavioral and psychological development to allow subjective acuity testing. However, specially designed tests are still useful to limit the amount of verbal interaction needed. The 3-year-old child can easily match simple forms and responds well to learning through demonstration and imitation of tasks.⁹⁵ Visual acuity tests for this age group ideally involve a matching task or a forced-choice task, such as pointing to the correct response.

Use of the Broken Wheel acuity cards is appropriate for this age group. Very little verbal interaction is necessary, and the cards use a Landolt C target, considered the optimum type of test for visual acuity.⁹⁶ This test has the added advantage of established normative values.⁹⁷

The Lea Symbols chart, which consists of four optotypes (circle, square, apple, house), also can be used with great success.⁹⁸ The child simply has to find a matching block or point to the shape that matches the target presented. This minimizes verbal interaction and makes the test very useful for children between 30 months and 5 years. The Lea Symbols chart is the first pediatric acuity test based on the logMAR scale, as recommended by the National Research Council Committee on Vision.⁹⁹ A study of the Lea Symbols and HOTV charts found that the two were comparable in 4- and 5-year-old children, but that in 3-year-olds, the Lea Symbols chart had better testability rates.¹⁰⁰ Only 8 percent of children were untestable with the Lea Symbols chart. Another study found that almost every child older than 30 months could be tested with the Lea Symbols chart.¹⁰¹ The HOTV test can also be completed by many preschoolers.

c. Refraction

Measurement of refractive error may involve:

- Static retinoscopy
- Cycloplegic retinoscopy.

With two important modifications, standard static (distance, noncycloplegic) retinoscopy can usually be performed in preschool children. A modern video projection system is a valuable means of controlling accommodation and fixation at 6 meters. Using a lens rack or loose lenses and fogging glasses rather than a phoropter enables the clinician to see the child's face and observe when the child loses fixation at 6 meters.

Cycloplegic retinoscopy is a valuable procedure for the first evaluation of preschoolers and when static retinoscopy yields unreliable results or professional judgment indicates otherwise. This procedure should also be performed when strabismus or significant refractive error is present. Cyclopentolate (1%) is the cycloplegic agent of choice. Two drops should be instilled, one at a time, 5 minutes apart, in each eye.⁷¹ The use of a spray bottle to administer the drug is also effective for this age group. Retinoscopy may be performed with a lens rack or loose lenses 20-30 minutes after instillation.⁷²

d. Binocular Vision, Accommodation and Ocular Motility

The following procedures are useful for assessing binocular and accommodative function:

- Cover test
- Positive and negative fusional vergences (prism bar/step vergence testing)
- Near point of convergence (NPC)
- Stereopsis
- Monocular estimation method (MEM) retinoscopy
- Versions.

The cover test is the primary means of evaluating binocular vision in the preschool child. It should be performed in the primary position and, if necessary, in other cardinal positions of gaze to screen for noncomitant deviations. When a deviation is present, estimation of the magnitude or use of a prism bar enables more precise measurement. The results of the cover test can also be combined with version testing to rule out the presence of a noncomitant deviation.

If the cover test suggests a potentially significant heterophoria or intermittent strabismus, fusional vergence testing may be used to help determine whether treatment may be indicated. Fusional vergence can be assessed objectively, using the step vergence procedure.^{103,104} To assess fusional vergence objectively, the clinician uses a hand-held prism bar and carefully observes the patient's eyes, looking for a loss of bifixation as the amount of prism is gradually increased.

The NPC is an excellent test to use with the preschool child because both the break and recovery measurements can be determined objectively. Instead of asking the child when he sees double, the clinician asks the

child to keep looking at the target as it is moved closer. The clinician carefully observes the child's eyes and determines when there is a loss of bifixation. The target is then moved away from the child until bifixation is regained. Using this procedure makes it easy to determine the NPC in a preschool child.

Stereopsis testing can generally be accomplished in preschool children, using commercially available stereopsis tests. To increase the ability to measure stereopsis, it is wise to use a matching procedure, in which the examiner constructs a set of figures that correspond to the figures in the stereopsis test booklet and simply asks the child to point to the picture he or she sees in the test booklet.

Objective accommodative testing can be performed in preschool children, using MEM retinoscopy. MEM retinoscopy is easy to perform with children of this age group and provides information about the accommodative response.

To assess extraocular muscle function and concomitancy, it is important to perform version testing in all cardinal positions of gaze, using a highinterest fixation target. When a problem is suspected, the cover test procedure can be used in the relevant position of gaze.

e. Ocular Health Assessment and Systemic Health Screening

An evaluation of ocular health may include:

- Evaluation of the ocular anterior segment and adnexa
- Evaluation of the ocular posterior segment
- Color vision testing
- Assessment of pupillary responses
- Visual field screening (confrontation).

With some modification, traditional testing used to assess ocular health in adults can be used in preschool children. Most preschool children will cooperate, allowing the use of the biomicroscope to evaluate the anterior segment. Pupillary dilation facilitates thorough evaluation of the posterior segment. With encouragement and assistance from the parent, to help control fixation, binocular indirect ophthalmoscopy is often successful.

Color vision testing can generally be done with standard pseudoisochromatic plates or, preferably, with tests such as the Pease-Allen Color Test (PACT), the Mr. Color Test, or Color Vision Made Easy, which do not require the child to identify a number. All of these tests are easy to administer and have high testability rates in preschool children.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷

Measurement of IOP is not a routine part of the eye and vision examination of preschool children, but pressure should be assessed when ocular signs and symptoms or risk factors for glaucoma exist. Hand-held applanation or noncontact tonometers are available for the measurement of IOP in this population. If it is not possible to assess IOP reliably under standard clinical conditions, testing under sedation or anesthesia may be appropriate.

Confrontation visual fields testing should be attempted with preschool children, when indicated, using the techniques described for infants and toddlers. When the results are equivocal or risk factors are present, the clinician should either retest the child or consult with or refer the child to a pediatric ophthalmologist or neurologist for appropriate testing.

f. Supplemental Testing

When the preschool child's history indicates a possible developmental lag or a learning problem, the optometrist may administer a developmental visual perceptual screening test to help diagnose and manage visual information-processing problems. The testing can help assess developmental level, detect visual perceptual dysfunction, and enable early identification of children at risk for the development of learning related vision problems.

The assessment of visual perceptual development may include:

- Denver Developmental Screening Test (DDST)
- Developmental Test of Visual Motor Integration (DTVMI)

Recommended for use in this age group,¹⁰⁸ the DDST was designed for use with children from birth through 6 years of age. Another test that can be used for screening children as young as 3 years is the DTVMI.¹⁰⁹ When visual perceptual problems are detected, consultation with an optometrist who has advanced clinical training or experience with this population should be considered. Referral for consultation with the child's pediatrician or other primary care physician or a child psychologist or psychiatrist should also be considered when problems in language and social development are detected.

g. Assessment and Diagnosis

Upon completing examination of the preschool-age child, the optometrist assesses and evaluates the data to establish the diagnosis and to formulate a management plan. In some cases, referral for consultation with or treatment by another optometrist, the patient's pediatrician or other primary care physician, or another health care provider may be indicated.

C. Examination of School-Age Children

1. General Considerations

This section of the Guideline describes the optometric examination of the school-age child. The discussion of examination components is presented in general terms and is not intended to be all inclusive. Professional judgment and individual patient history, symptoms, findings, and cooperation may have significant impact on the nature and course of the examination.

Some of the issues relating to infants, toddlers, and preschool children also apply to this population, particularly children younger than 8 years old. Age-appropriate examination and management strategies should be used. Although most of the examination procedures used with this age group are identical to those recommended for adults, age-appropriate modifications of instructions and targets often may be required.⁴³

2. Early Detection and Prevention

The value of and need for school-based vision screening have been debated for decades. One concern is that the majority of school vision screenings test only visual acuity. Such testing primarily detects amblyopia and myopia, and only high degrees of astigmatism and hyperopia. Although detection of such disorders is certainly a worthwhile objective, screening for visual acuity alone generally detects only about 30 percent of children who would fail a professional eye examination.¹¹⁰ Visual acuity screening often fails to detect those conditions that would be expected to affect learning. Parents or caregivers of children who pass vision screening may incorrectly assume that their children do not require further professional care.

3. Examination Sequence

The pediatric eye and vision examination of the school-age child may include, but is not limited to, the following (see Appendix Figure 4):

a. Patient History

A comprehensive patient history for the school-age child may include:

- Nature of the presenting problem, including chief complaint
- Visual and ocular history
- General health history, including prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal history and review of systems
- Family eye and medical histories
- Developmental history of the child
- School performance history.

The collection of demographic data generally precedes taking the patient history. Having the parent(s) or caregiver(s) fill out a questionnaire facilitates obtaining the patient history. Because of the relationship between vision and learning, special attention needs to be paid to the child's school performance. When a child is not performing up to potential, the optometrist should probe for signs and symptoms

suggestive of a learning related vision problem.^{111*2} Questions can be designed to define the specific nature of the learning problem and to distinguish disorders of visual efficiency from a visual perceptual or nonvisual disorder.¹¹²

b. Visual Acuity

Visual acuity may be assessed with the Snellen acuity chart (modified for children 6-8 years of age). A recommended modification is the isolation of one line, or even one-half line of letters, rather than projection of a full chart.

c. Refraction

Measurement of refractive error may involve use of the following procedures:

- Static (distance) retinoscopy
- Cycloplegic retinoscopy
- Subjective refraction.

For children over the age of 8, the clinician can usually use traditional assessment procedures to measure refractive error. For patients below age 8, static (distance) retinoscopy may be performed without a phoroptor, using a lens rack or loose lenses and fogging glasses. This procedure allows the practitioner to move with the child and to observe whether the child is fixating properly. Cycloplegic refraction may be necessary in such conditions as strabismus, amblyopia, or significant hyperopia.

d. Binocular Vision, Accommodation, and Ocular Motility

Evaluation of binocular and accommodative function and ocular motility may include the following procedures:



- Near point of convergence (NPC)
- Positive and negative fusional vergences
- Accommodative amplitude and facility
- Monocular estimation method (MEM) retinoscopy
- Stereopsis
- Versions.

Other than refractive errors, the most prevalent vision conditions in children fall into the category of accommodative and binocular vision anomalies.⁴¹ These conditions may interfere with school performance, causing a number of symptoms, including eyestrain, blurred vision, double vision, loss of place, skipped lines, word movement on the page, inability to sustain attention when reading, and decreased reading comprehension over time.^{109,113-119} Careful evaluation of these conditions in the school-age population is critical.

Evaluation of accommodation and fusional vergence should involve assessment of both the amplitude and the facility of the response. For accommodation, the evaluation may include assessment of accommodative amplitude, accommodative facility using +2.00/-2.00 D lenses, and accommodative response using MEM retinoscopy.

Binocular evaluation should include the cover test and tests of accommodative convergence/accommodation (AC/A) ratio, fusional vergence amplitude with either the Risley prisms or the prism bar, vergence facility, and stereopsis, using a random dot stereopsis test. Additionally, negative relative accommodation (NRA) and positive relative accommodation (NRA) and positive relative accommodation and binocular status. In analyzing these tests, it is important to examine all data and group findings, rather than depending on any one isolated finding, to arrive at a diagnosis.¹²⁰

Versions can be performed to rule out a noncomitant deviation. Qualitative examination of eye movements involves three distinct steps: assessment of stability of fixation, saccadic function, and pursuit function. Subjective techniques involving observation of the patient's

² Refer to the Optometric Clinical Practice Guideline for Care of the Patient with Learning Related Vision Problems.

fixation and eye movements have been developed, along with rating scales, to probe these three areas.¹²¹

e. Ocular Health Assessment and Systemic Health Screening

An assessment of ocular health may include:

- Evaluation of the ocular anterior segment and adnexa
- Evaluation of the ocular posterior segment
- Measurement of intraocular pressure
- Color vision testing
- Assessment of pupillary responses
- Visual field screening (confrontation).

Traditional testing procedures utilized for the evaluation of ocular health in adults can be used with school-age children. Most will cooperate and allow use of the biomicroscope to evaluate the anterior segment and binocular indirect ophthalmoscopy to evaluate the posterior segment. Pupillary dilation allows for thorough evaluation of the posterior segment and may be repeated as needed at subsequent visits.¹²²

The measurement of IOP in school-age children is generally successful with either applanation or noncontact tonometry. Although the prevalence of glaucoma is low in this population, a baseline measurement at this age is valuable. Tonometry may be repeated as needed at subsequent visits.

If color vision testing was not administered when a preschool child, it should be performed at this age. As children enter school, it is helpful to know whether a color vision deficiency exists, because severe color vision deficiency may cause mislabeling of a child as learning disabled.¹²³ Moreover, color vision deficiency may indicate an ocular health problem.¹²⁴

Evaluation of visual fields can be performed in school-age children using confrontation visual field screening.

f. Supplemental Testing

Visual information processing function can be evaluated using tests that probe the following areas:

- Directionality
- Visual motor integration.

This testing is not routine; however, when the patient history indicates a possible developmental lag or a history of learning problems, a visual perceptual screening is warranted.¹²⁵ Two tests available for probing these areas are the Gardner Reversal Frequency Test–Recognition subtest (directionality) and the Developmental Test of Visual Motor Integration. When a visual information processing problem is detected, consultation with an optometrist who has advanced clinical training or experience in this area should be considered. Referral for consultation with the child's pediatrician or other primary care physician, the school system, a child psychologist or psychiatrist, or the state or local Department of Special Education should be considered when problems in other developmental areas such as behavior, language, or social development are detected, or when a full psychoeducational evaluation is indicated.

g. Assessment and Diagnosis

Upon completion of the examination, the optometrist should assess and evaluate the data to establish a diagnosis and to formulate a management plan. In some cases, referral for consultation with or treatment by another optometrist, the patient's pediatrician or other primary care physician, or another health care provider may be indicated.

D. Management of Children

1. Patient Education

Discussion and communication with the parents or caregivers and the child should occur at the end of the eye examination to review test findings. The optometrist's primary responsibility in this area is educating parents or caregivers about any eye or vision disorders and vision care. Many parents and caregivers believe the screening performed by the child's pediatrician or other primary care physician or school nurse is sufficient to rule out all significant visual disorders. However, these screenings are limited and were not intended to replace a comprehensive eye examination (see Table 1).

The importance of adhering to an eye and vision examination schedule should be emphasized from a preventive standpoint as well. Early detection and preventive care can help avoid, or minimize, the consequences of disorders such as amblyopia and strabismus.

The optometrist can also play an important role by educating parents/caregivers and children about eye safety, particularly regarding sports-related eye safety. Sports and recreational activities accounted for nearly 40,000 of the eye injuries reported in 1991. Baseball injuries were the most frequent cause of eye injuries among children 5-14 years of age.¹²⁶ A spectacle lens material equivalent or superior in impact resistance to that of 2mm polycarbonate or Trivex™ material is recommended for use with children, except when such lenses will not fulfill the visual requirements of the patient. For those cases in which protective lens materials are not used, the optometrist should obtain informed consent from parents and/or caregivers.

Optometrists should educate parents or caregivers about the importance of early, preventive eye care, including examinations at the age of 6 months, at age 3, before entering first grade, and periodically during the school years. The extent to which a child is at risk for the development of eye and vision problems determines the appropriate re-evaluation schedule. Individuals with ocular signs and symptoms require prompt examination. Furthermore, the presence of certain risk factors may necessitate more frequent examinations, based on professional judgment (see Table 4).

Table 4Recommended Eye Examination Frequencyfor the Pediatric Patient

	Examination Interval			
Patient Age	Asymptomatic/ risk-free	At-risk		
Birth to 24 months	At 6 months of age	At 6 months of age or as recommended		
2 to 5 years	At 3 years of age	At 3 years of age or as recommended		
6 to 18 years	Before first grade and every 2 years thereafter	Annually or as recommended		

2. Coordination, Frequency, and Extent of Care

The developing visual system is considered most susceptible to interference during the first few years of life.^{51,127-129} In the child of 6 months, vision has assumed the position of dominant sense, and it will form the basis of later perceptual, cognitive, and social development.¹³⁰ Moreover, in the child of this age, vision has rapidly developed in most crucial areas, including visual acuity, accommodation, and stereopsis.¹¹⁻¹⁷ Interference during this critical phase of development may be deleterious. For instance, abnormalities present at birth and shortly thereafter, including opacities of the ocular media (e.g., congenital cataract) and early-onset strabismus, may have profound effects on the developing visual system. Thus, the efforts of the child's pediatrician or other primary care physician are vital in the detection of ocular abnormalities that may require referral for an eye examination and treatment.

Conclusion 37

The child's first eye and vision examination should be scheduled at 6 months of age (or sooner if signs or symptoms warrant). When no abnormalities are detected at this age, the next examination should be scheduled at age 3.

The child considered at risk for the development of eye and vision problems may need additional testing or more frequent re-evaluation. Factors placing an infant, toddler, or child at significant risk for visual impairment include:

- Prematurity, low birth weight, prolonged supplemental oxygen, or grade III or IV intraventricular hemorrhage
- Family history of retinoblastoma, congenital cataracts, or metabolic or genetic disease
- Infection of mother during pregnancy (e.g., rubella, toxoplasmosis, venereal disease, herpes, cytomegalovirus, or human immunodeficiency virus)
- Difficult or assisted labor, which may be associated with fetal distress or low Apgar scores
- High refractive error
- Strabismus
- Anisometropia
- Known or suspected central nervous system dysfunction evidenced by developmental delay, cerebral palsy, dysmorphic features, seizures, or hydrocephalus.

Because of the importance of vision in learning, early detection and treatment of vision problems in school-age children are major public health goals as delineated in Healthy People 2010.⁹ An estimated 17-25 percent of school-age children have vision problems,¹⁰ many of which may interfere with the children's abilities to reach their potential in school. It is clear that all school-age children should have comprehensive eye and vision examinations, before entering the first grade and periodically thereafter. Some children may require more frequent care, depending on the nature of any diagnosed eye or vision disorder.

CONCLUSION

Children account for a large and growing percentage of the population of the United States. Studies have demonstrated that the prevalence of eye and vision disorders is substantial in this group. Research also indicates that early detection and intervention are particularly important in children because of the rapid development of the visual system in early childhood and its sensitivity to interference. When disorders such as amblyopia and strabismus are undetected, the long-term consequences can be serious in terms of quality of life, comfort, appearance, and career opportunities. In addition, the cost of providing appropriate treatment for longstanding eye and vision disorders may be significantly higher than the cost of detecting and treating these problems early in life.

III. REFERENCES

- Wyngaarden JB. Medicine as a public service. In: Wyngaarden JB, Smith LH, eds. Cecil's textbook of medicine, 18th ed, vol 1. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1988:7-8.
- 2. Catania LJ. Primary care. In: Newcomb RD, Marshall EC, eds. Public health and community optometry, 2nd ed. Boston: Butterworths, 1990:295-310.
- 3. U.S. Census Bureau. Census 2000, summary file 1. http://www.census.gov.
- 4. Gerali P, Flom MC, Raab EL. Report of Children's Screening Task Force. Schaumburg, IL: National Society to Prevent Blindness, 1990.
- Poe GS. Eye care visits and use of eyeglasses or contact lenses. United States 1979 and 1980. Vital and health statistics. Series 10, No. 145, DHHS Publication (PHS) 84-1573, Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics, 1984.
- Pizzarello L, Tilp M, Tiezzi L, et al. A new school-based program to provide glasses: Childsight. J AAPOS 1998; 6:372-4.
- Wasserman RC, Croft CA, Brotherton SE. Preschool vision screening in pediatric practice: a study from the Pediatric Research in Office Setting (PROS) Network. American Academy of Pediatrics. Pediatrics 1992; 89: 834-8.
- American Public Health Association. Improving early childhood eyecare. Policy Statement No. 20011. Washington, DC: APHA, 2001.

- 9. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Tracking Healthy People 2010. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 2000.
- 10. American Foundation for Vision Awareness. Children's vision and literacy campaign position paper. St. Louis, MO: AFVA, 1993.
- 11. Dobson V, Teller DY. Visual acuity in human infants: a review and comparison of behavioral and electrophysiological studies. Vision Res 1978; 17:1469-83.
- 12. Gwiazda J, Brill S, Mohindra I, Held R. Preferential looking acuity in infants from two to fifty-eight weeks of age. Am J Optom Physiol Opt 1980; 57:428-32.
- 13. Banks MS. The development of visual accommodation during early infancy. Child Dev 1980; 51:646-66.
- 14. Brookman KE. Ocular accommodation in human infants. Am J Optom Physiol Opt 1983; 60:91-9.
- Banks MS, Aslin RN, Letson RD. Sensitive period for the development of human binocular vision. Science 1975; 190:675-7.
- 16. Hohman A, Creutzfeldt OD. Squint and the development of binocularity in humans. Nature 1975; 254:613-4.
- 17. Ciner EB, Scheiman MM, Schanel-Klitsch E, Weil L. Stereopsis testing in 18- to 35- month-old children using operant preferential looking. Optom Vis Sci 1989; 66: 782-7.
- Wiesel T, Hubel D. Effects of visual deprivation of morphology and physiology of cells in the cat's lateral geniculate body. J Neurophysiol 1963; 26:578-85.

- Wiesel T, Hubel D. Single cell response in striate cortex of kittens deprived of vision in one eye. J Neurophysiol 1963; 26:1003-17.
- Mohindra I, Jacobson SG, Thomas J, Held R. Development of amblyopia in infants. Trans Ophthalmol Soc UK 1979; 99:344-6.
- 21. Epelbaum M, Milleret C, Buisseret P, Dufier JL. The sensitive period for strabismic amblyopia in humans. Ophthalmology 1993; 100:323-7.
- 22. Angi MR, Pucci V, Forattini F, Formentin PA. Results of photorefractometric screening for amblyogenic defects in children aged 20 months. Behav Brain Res 1992; 49(1):91-7.
- 23. Neumann E, Freidman Z, Abel-Peleg B. Prevention of strabismic amblyopia of early onset with special reference to the optimal age for screening. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 1987; 24:106-10.
- 24. Eibschitz-Tsimhoni M, Friedman T, Naor J, et al. Early screening for amblyogenic risk factors lowers the prevalence and severity of amblyopia. J AAPOS 2000; 4:194-9.
- 25. Birch EE, Hale LA. Operant assessment of stereoacuity. Clin Vis Sci 1989;
 4:295-300.
- 26. Howland HC, Atkinson J, Braddick O, French J. Infant astigmatism measured by photorefraction. Science 1978; 202:331-3.
- Fulton AB, Dobson V, Salem D, et al. Cycloplegic refractions of infants and young children. Am J Ophthalmol 1980; 90:239-47.
- 28. Mohindra I, Held R. Refraction in humans from birth to five years. Doc Ophthalmol Proc 1981; series 28:19-27.

- 29. Howland HC, Sayles N. Photorefractive measurements of astigmatism in infants and young children. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1984; 25:93-102.
- 30. Mohindra I. A technique for infant vision examination. Am J Optom Physiol Opt 1975; 52:867-70.
- 31. Tongue AC, Cibis GW. Brückner test. Ophthalmology 1981; 88:1041-4.
- 32. Gwiazda J, Wolfe JM, Brill S, et al. Quick assessment of preferential looking acuity in infants. Am J Optom Physiol Opt 1980; 57:420-7.
- 33. McDonald M, Dobson V, Sebris SL, et al. The acuity card procedure: a rapid test of infant acuity. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1985; 26:1158-62.
- Birch E, Williams C, Hunter J, Lapa MC, and the ALSPAC "Children in Focus" Study Team. Random dot stereoacuity of preschool children. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 1997; 34:217-22.
- 35. Ciner EB, Schanel-Klitsch E, Herzberg C. Stereoacuity development. 6 months to 5 years. A new tool for testing and screening. Optom Vis Sci 1996; 73:43-8.
- Orel-Bixler D, Brodie A. Vision screening of infants and toddlers: photorefraction and stereoacuity. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1995; 36(suppl):868.
- American Optometric Association. Position paper: Recommendations for regular optometric care. St. Louis, MO: AOA, 1994.

- 38. Roberts J. Eye examination findings among children, United States. Vital and health statistics, series 11, no. 115, DHEW publication (HSM) 72-1057, Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics, 1972.
- Roberts J. Eye examination findings among children aged 12-17, United States. Vital and health statistics, series 11, no. 155, DHEW publication (HRA) 76-1637, Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics, 1975.
- 40. Ciner EB, Schmidt PP, Orel-Bixler D, et al. Vision screening of preschool children: Evaluating the past, looking toward the future. Optom Vis Sci. 1998; 75:571-84.
- 41. Scheiman M, Gallaway M, Coulter R, et al. Prevalence of vision and ocular disease conditions in a clinical pediatric population. J Am Optom Assoc 1996; 67:193-202.
- 42. Rosner J, Rosner J. Pediatric optometry, 2nd ed. Boston: Butterworths, 1990:47-71.
- 43. Rouse MW, Ryan JM. The optometric examination and management of children. In: Rosenbloom AA, Morgan MW, eds. Principles and practice of pediatric optometry. Philadelphia: JB Lippincott, 1990:155-91.
- 44. Press LJ, Moore BD. Clinical pediatric optometry. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann, 1993:25-80.
- 45. White BL. The first three years of life. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1975:77-102.
- 46. Campbell LR, Charney E. Factors associated with delay in diagnosis of childhood amblyopia. Pediatrics 1991; 87:178-85.
- 47. Howland H, Howland B. Photorefraction: a technique for study of refractive error at a distance. J Opt Soc Am 1974; 64:240-9.

- Atkinson J, Braddick O. The use of isotropic photorefraction for vision screening in infants. Acta Ophthalmol 1983; 157(suppl):36-45.
- 49. Duckman R. Using photorefraction to evaluate refractive error, ocular alignment, and accommodation in infants, toddlers, and multiple handicapped children. Probl Optom 1990; 2(3):333-53.
- 50. Preslan MW, Zimmerman E. Photorefraction screening in premature infants. Ophthalmology 1993; 100:762-8.
- 51. Wright KW, Edelman PM, Walonker F, Yiu S. Reliability of fixation preference testing in diagnosing amblyopia. Arch Ophthalmol 1986; 104:549-53.
- 52. Wright KW, Walonker F, Edelman P. 10-Diopter fixation test for amblyopia. Arch Ophthalmol 1981; 99:1242-6.
- 53. Whittaker KW, O'Flynn E, Manners RM. Diagnosis of amblyopia using the 10-diopter fixation test: a proposed modification for patients with unilateral ptosis. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 2000; 37:21-3.
- 54. Laws D, Noonan CP, Ward A, Chandna A. Binocular fixation pattern and visual acuity in children with strabismic amblyopia. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 2000; 37(1):24-8.
- 55. Birch EE, Stager DR, Berry P, Everett ME. Prospective assessment of acuity and stereopsis in amblyopic infantile esotropes following early surgery. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1990; 31:758-65.
- 56. Wilcox LM Jr, Sokol S. Changes in binocular fixation patterns and the visually evoked potential in the treatment of esotropia with amblyopia. Ophthalmology 1980; 87:1273-81.

- 57. Mayer DL, Fulton AB, Hansen RM. Preferential looking acuity obtained with a staircase procedure in pediatric patients. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1982; 23:538-43.
- 58. Birch EE, Naegele J, Bauer JA, Held R. Visual acuity of toddlers. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1980; 20(suppl):210.
- 59. Spierer A, Royzman Z, Chetrit A, et al. Vision screening of preverbal children with Teller acuity cards. Ophthalmology 1999; 106:849-54.
- 60. Birch EE, Stager DR. Monocular acuity and stereopsis in infantile esotropia. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1985; 26:1624-30.
- 61. Mohn G, van Hof-van Duin J, Fetter WPF, et al. Acuity assessment of non-verbal infants and children: clinical experience with the acuity card procedure. Dev Med Child Neurol 1988; 30(suppl):232-44.
- 62. Stager DR, Birch EE. Preferential-looking acuity and stereopsis in infantile esotropia. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 1986; 23:160-5.
- 63. Mayer DL, Fulton AB, Rodier D. Grating and recognition acuities of pediatric patients. Ophthalmology 1984; 91:947-53.
- 64. Mayer DL. Acuity of amblyopic children for small field gratings and recognition stimuli. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1986; 27:1148-53.
- 65. Ellis GS Jr., Hartmann EE, Love A, et al. Teller acuity cards versus clinical judgment in the diagnosis of amblyopia with strabismus. Ophthalmology 1988; 95:788-91.
- 66. Sokol S, Moskowitz A. Comparison of pattern VEPs and preferential-looking behavior in 3-month-old infants. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1985; 26:359-65.

- 67. Riddell PM, Ladenheim B, Mast J, et al. Comparison of visual acuity in infants: Teller acuity cards and sweep visual evoked potentials. Optom Vis Sci 1997; 74:702-7.
- 68. Prager TC, Zou YL, Jensen CL, et al. Evaluation of methods for assessing visual function of infants. J AAPOS 1999; 3:275-82.
- 69. Ciner EB. Management of refractive error in infants, toddlers and preschool children. Probl Optom 1990; 2:394-419.
- 70. Gray L. Avoiding adverse effects of cycloplegics in infants and children. J Am Optom Assoc 1979; 50:465-70.
- Amos JF. Cycloplegic refraction. In: Bartlett JD, Jaanus SD, eds. Clinical ocular pharmacology, 4th ed. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann, 2001:425-32.
- 72. Bartlett JD, Wesson MD, Swiatocha J, Woolley T. Efficacy of a pediatric cycloplegic administered as a spray. J Am Optom Assoc 1993; 64:617-21.
- 73. Ismail EE, Rouse MW, De Land PN. A comparison of drop instillation and spray application of 1% cyclopentolate hydrochloride. Optom Vis Sci 1994; 71:235-41.
- Hug T, Cibis GW, Lynd J. The use of spray topical drug delivery system for cycloplegic medications in children. Binocular Vis Strabismus Q 1997;12:191-4.
- 75. Twelker JD, Mutti DO. Retinoscopy in infants using a near noncycloplegic technique, cycloplegia with tropicamide 1%, and cycloplegia with cyclopentolate 1%. Optom Vis Sci 2001; 78(4):215-22.
- 76. Saunders KJ, Westhall CA. Comparison between near retinoscopy and cycloplegic retinoscopy in the refraction of infants and children. Optom Vis Sci 1992; 69:615-22.

<u>References 47</u>

- 77. Borghi RA, Rouse MW. Comparison of refraction obtained by "near retinoscopy" and retinoscopy under cycloplegia. Am J Optom Physiol Opt 1985; 62:169-72.
- Wesson MD, Mann KR, Bray NW. A comparison of cycloplegic refraction to near retinoscopy technique for refractive error determination. J Am Optom Assoc 1990; 61:680-4.
- 79. Banks M. Infant refraction and accommodation. Int Ophthalmol Clin 1980; 20(1):205-32.
- 80. Gwiazda J, Mohindra I, Brill S, Held R. Infant astigmatism and meridional amblyopia. Vision Res 1985; 25:1269-76.
- 81. Mohindra I, Held R, Gwiazda J, Brill S. Astigmatism in infants. Science 1978; 202:329-30.
- 82. Ciner EB, Schanel-Klitsch E, Herzberg C. Stereoacuity development: 6 months to 5 years. A new tool for testing and screening. Optom Vis Sci 1996; 73:43-8.
- 83. Birch EE, Salomao S. Infant random dot stereoacuity cards. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 1998; 35:86-90.
- Frantz K. Diagnosis and management of common eye disease in infants, toddlers and preschool children. Probl Optom 1990; 2:420-37.
- 85. American Academy of Ophthalmology. Preferred practice pattern: comprehensive pediatric eye evaluation. San Francisco: AAO, 1992.
- 86. Appel S, Steciw M, Graboyes M, Cote KS. Managing the child with special needs. J Vision Rehabil (Houston) 1985; 1:2-8.

- 87. Yoo R, Logani S, Mahat M, et al. Vision screening of abused and neglected children by the UCLA Mobile Eye Clinic. J Am Optom Assoc 1999; 70:461-9.
- 88. Kivlin JD, Simons KB, Lazoritz S, Ruttum MS. Shaken baby syndrome. Ophthalmology 2000; 107:1246-54.
- 89. Mills M. Funduscopic lesions associated with mortality in shaken baby syndrome. J AAPOS 1998; 2:67-71.
- 90. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Child Maltreatment 1994: Reports from the States for the National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1994.
- 91. Budenz DL, Farber MG, Mirchandani HG, et al. Ocular and optic nerve hemorrhages in abused infants with intracranial injuries. Ophthalmology 1994; 101:559-65.
- 92. Han DP, Wilkinson WS. Late ophthalmic manifestations of the shaken baby syndrome. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 1990; 27:299-303.
- 93. De Becker I, MacPhearson HJ, LaRoche GR, et al. Negative predictive value of a population-based preschool vision screening program. Ophthalmology 1992; 99:998-1003.
- 94. Fern KD. A comparison of vision screening techniques in preschool children. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1991; 32(4;suppl):962.
- 95. Richman JE. Assessment of visual acuity in preschool children. Probl Optom, 1990; 2:319-32.
- 96. Hofstetter HW. New standards and procedures for measuring visual acuity. J Am Optom Assoc 1981; 52: 321-7.

- 97. McDonald M, Chaudry NM. Comparison of four methods of assessing visual acuity in young children. Optom Vis Sci 1989; 66:363-9.
- 98. Hyvärinen L, Näsänen R, Laurinen P. New visual acuity test for pre-school children. Acta Ophthalmol 1980; 58:507-11.
- 99. Assembly of Behavioral and Social Sciences, National Research Council, National Academy of Sciences. Committee on Vision. Recommended standard procedures for the clinical measurement and specification of visual acuity. Report of Working Group 39. Adv Ophthalmol 1980; 41:103-48.
- Hered R, Murphy S, Clancy M. Comparison of the HOTV and Lea Symbols charts for preschool vision screening. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 1997; 34:24-8.
- Becker R, Hübsch S, Gräf MH, Kaufmann H. Preliminary report: examination of young children with Lea symbols. Strabismus 2000; 8:209-13.
- 102. Moore B. Vision in Preschoolers Study Group. Comparing the usability of two visual acuity tests with preschool age children. Optom Vis Sci 2000; 77(suppl):280.
- 103. Wesson MD. Normalization of prism bar vergences. Am J Optom Physiol Opt 1982; 59: 628-34.
- 104. Scheiman M, Herzberg H, Frantz K, Margolies M. A normative study of step vergence in elementary schoolchildren. J Am Optom Assoc 1989; 60:276-80.
- 105. Pease PL, Allen J. A new test for screening vision: concurrent validity and utility. Am J Optom Physiol Opt 1988; 65:729-38.
- Ventocilla M, Orel-Bixler D, Haegerstrom-Portnoy G. Pediatric color vision screening: AO HRR vs. Mr. Color. Optom Vis Sci 1995; 72(suppl):203.

- 107. Ciner EB. Examination procedures for infants and young children. In: Moore BD, ed. Eye care for infants and young children. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann, 1997:85.
- 108. Miller LJ, Sprong TA. Psychometric and qualitative comparison of four preschool screening instruments. J Learn Disabil 1986; 19:480-4.
- Scheiman M, Rouse MW. Optometric management of learning related vision disorders. St. Louis, MO: CV Mosby, 1994:321-2.
- 110. Blum HL, Peters HB, Bettman JW. Vision screening for elementary schools. The Orinda Study. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1959:36-55.
- American Optometric Association. Clinical Practice Guideline on Care of the Patient with Learning Related Vision Problems. St. Louis, MO: AOA, 2000.
- 112. Cotter S. Optometric assessment: Case history. In: Scheiman MM, Rouse MW, eds. Optometric management of learning related vision problems. St. Louis, MO: Mosby-Year Book, 1994.
- Duke-Elder S. System of ophthalmology, vol V. Ophthalmic optics and refraction. St. Louis, MO: CV Mosby, 1970:451-86.
- 114. Daum KM. Accommodative dysfunction. Doc Ophthalmol 1983; 55:177-98.
- 115. Hennessey D, Iosue R, Rouse MW. Relation of symptoms to accommodative infacility of school aged children. Am J Optom Physiol Opt 1984; 61:177-83.
- 116. Haddad HM, Isaacs NS, Onghena K, Mazor A. The use of orthoptics in dyslexia. J Learn Disabil 1984; 17:142-4.

- 117. Sheedy JE, Saladin JJ. Association of symptoms with measures of oculomotor deficiencies. Am J Optom Physiol Opt 1987; 55:670-6.
- Ludlam WM, Ludlam DE. Effects of prism-induced accommodative convergence stress on reading comprehension. J Am Optom Assoc 1988; 59:440-5.
- Garzia RP, Nicholson SB, Gaines CS, et al. Effects of nearpoint visual stress on psycholinguistic processing in reading. J Am Optom Assoc 1989; 60:38-44.
- 120. Scheiman M, Wick B. Clinical management of binocular vision, 2nd ed. Philadelphia: JB Lippincott, 2002:26-81.
- Maples WC, Atchley J, Ficklin TW. Northeastern State University College of Optometry's oculomotor norms. J Behav Optom 1992; 3:143-50.
- 122. Parisi ML, Scheiman M, Coulter RS. Comparison of the effectiveness of a nondilated versus dilated fundus examination in the pediatric population. J Am Optom Assoc 1996; 67:266-72.
- 123. Gnadt GR, Amos JF. Dichromacy and its effect on a young male. J Am Optom Assoc 1992; 63:475-80.
- 124. Hagerstrom-Portnoy G. Color vision. In: Rosenbloom AA, Morgan MW, eds. Principles and practice of pediatric optometry. Philadelphia: JB Lippincott, 1990:449-66.
- 125. Borsting E, Rouse MW. Detecting learning-related visual problems in the primary care setting. J Am Optom Assoc 1994; 65:642-50.
- National Society to Prevent Blindness, National Center for Sight. 1991 eye injuries associated with sports and recreational products. Schaumburg, IL: NSPB, 1992.

- 127. von Noorden GK, Crawford MLJ. The sensitive period. Trans Ophthalmol Soc UK 1979; 99:442-6.
- 128. Petrig B, Julesz B, Kropfl W, et al. Development of stereopsis and cortical binocularity in human infants: electrophysiological evidence. Science 1981; 213:1402-5.
- 129. Mohindra I, Jacobson SG, Held R. Binocular visual form deprivation in human infants. Doc Ophthalmol 1983; 55:237-49.
- 130. Atkinson J. Human visual development over the first 6 months of life. A review and a hypothesis. Hum Neurobiol 1984; 3:61-74.

IV. APPENDIX

Figure 1 Pediatric Eye and Vision Examination: A Brief Flowchart



Figure 2 Potential Components of the Eye and Vision Examination for Infants and Toddlers

A. <u>Patient History</u>

- 1. Nature of the presenting problem, including chief complaint
- 2. Visual and ocular history
- 3. General health history, including prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal history and review of systems
- 4. Family eye and medical histories
- 5. Developmental history of the child
- B. <u>Visual Acuity</u>
 - 1. Fixation preference tests
 - 2. Preferential looking visual acuity test
- C. <u>Refraction</u>
 - 1. Cycloplegic retinoscopy
 - 2. Near retinoscopy

D. Binocular Vision and Ocular Motility

- 1. Cover test
- 2. Hirschberg test
- 3. Krimsky test
- 4. Brückner test
- 5. Versions
- 6. Near point of convergence
- E. Ocular Health Assessment and Systemic Health Screening
 - 1. Evaluation of the ocular anterior segment and adnexa
 - 2. Evaluation of the ocular posterior segment
 - 3. Assessment of pupillary responses
 - 4. Visual field screening (confrontation)
- F. <u>Supplemental Testing</u>
 - 1. Electrodiagnostic testing

Figure 3 Potential Components of the Eye and Vision Examination for Preschool Children

A. <u>Patient History</u>

- 1. Nature of the presenting problem, including chief complaint
- 2. Visual and ocular history
- 3. General health history, including prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal history and review of systems
- 4. Family eye and medical histories
- 5. Developmental history of the child
- B. <u>Visual Acuity</u>
 - 1. Lea Symbols chart
 - 2. Broken Wheel acuity cards
 - 3. HOTV test
- C. <u>Refraction</u>
 - 1. Static retinoscopy
 - 2. Cycloplegic retinoscopy
- D. Binocular Vision, Accommodation, and Ocular Motility
 - 1. Cover test
 - 2. Positive and negative fusional vergences (prism bar/step vergence testing)
 - 3. Near point of convergence
 - 4. Stereopsis
 - 5. Monocular estimation method (MEM) retinoscopy
 - 6. Versions
- E. Ocular Health Assessment and Systemic Health Screening
 - 1. Evaluation of the ocular anterior segment and adnexa
 - 2. Evaluation of the ocular posterior segment
 - 3. Color vision testing
 - 4. Assessment of pupillary responses
 - 5. Visual field screening (confrontation)
- F. <u>Supplemental Testing</u>
 - 1. Denver Developmental Screening Test (DDST)
 - 2. Developmental Test of Visual Motor Integration (DTVMI)

Visual and ocular history

history and review of systems Family eye and medical histories

School performance history

Developmental history of the child

<u>Appendix 57</u>

Figure 4
Potential Components of the Eye and Vision Examination
for School-Age Children

Nature of the presenting problem, including chief complaint

General health history, including prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal

Abbreviations of Commonly Used Terms

AC/A	- Accomm	odative convergence/accommodation ratio
D	- Diopter	
DDST	- Denver D	evelopmental Screening Test
DTVMI	- Developr	nental Test of Visual Motor Integration
IOP	- Intraocula	ar pressure
MEM	- Monocula	ar estimation method
NPC	- Near poir	nt of convergence
NRA	- Negative	relative accommodation
PACT	- Pease-All	en color test
PD	- Prism dic	pter
PRA	- Positive r	elative accommodation
SBS	- Shaken b	aby syndrome

B.	Visual	Acuity

Patient History

1. 2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

A.

1. Snellen acuity chart (with modification for children 6-8 years of age)

C. <u>Refraction</u>

- 1. Static retinoscopy
- 2. Subjective refraction

D. Binocular Vision, Accommodation, and Ocular Motility

- 1. Cover test
- 2. Near point of convergence
- 3. Positive and negative fusional vergences
- 4. Accommodative amplitude and facility
- 5. Monocular estimation method (MEM) retinoscopy
- 6. Stereopsis
- 7. Versions

E. Ocular Health Assessment and Systemic Health Screening

- 1. Evaluation of the ocular anterior segment and adnexa
- 2. Evaluation of the ocular posterior segment
- 3. Measurement of intraocular pressure
- 4. Color vision testing
- 5. Assessment of pupillary responses
- 6. Visual field screening (confrontation)

F. <u>Supplemental Testing</u>

- 1. Directionality
- 2. Visual motor integration

Glossary

Accommodation The ability of an eye to focus clearly on objects at various distances, or through various lens powers, resulting from changes in shape of the crystalline lens.

Adnexa The accessory structures of the eye, including the eyelids, lacrimal apparatus, and the extraocular muscles.

Anterior ocular segment The part of the eye including and anterior to the crystalline lens (i.e., cornea, anterior chamber, iris, ciliary body).

Color vision The ability to perceive differences in color.

Cover test A clinical test to determine the ocular alignment of the eyes and measure the magnitude of the angle of deviation of the visual axes.

Directionality The ability to understand and identify right and left directions in external visual space.

Intraocular pressure (IOP) The pressure within the eye relative to the constant formation and drainage of aqueous humor.

Near point of convergence (NPC) The maximal extent the eyes can be converged, using tonic, accommodative, fusional, and proximal convergence.

Negative relative accommodation (NRA) A measure of the ability to relax accommodation while maintaining binocular vision at a fixed distance, usually 40 cm. Measurement is made with plus-lens additions until the patient reports the first sustained blurring of the target.

Positive relative accommodation (PRA) A measure of the ability to stimulate accommodation while maintaining binocular vision at a fixed distance, usually 40 cm. Measurement is made with minus-lens additions until the patient reports the first sustained blurring of the target.

Posterior ocular segment The part of the eye located posterior to the crystalline lens (i.e., vitreous, choroid, retina, optic nerve).

Pupillary response The response of the pupils of the eyes to stimulation by light or accommodation.

Refraction Clinically, the determination of the refractive errors of an eye, or eyes (e.g., myopia, hyperopia, astigmatism, anisometropia).

Refractive status (refractive error) The degree to which images received by the eyes are not focused on the retina (e.g., myopia, hyperopia, astigmatism).

Stereopsis Binocular visual perception of three-dimensional space, based on retinal disparity. Clinically referred to as depth perception.

Suppression Under binocular viewing conditions, the inability to perceive all or part of objects in the field of vision of one eye, attributed to cortical inhibition.

Vergence Disjunctive movements of the eyes in which the visual axes move toward each other with convergence or away from each other with divergence.

Version Conjugate movement in which the two eyes move in the same direction.

Visual acuity The clearness of vision that depends on the sharpness of the retinal image and the integrity of the retina and visual pathway. It is expressed as the angle subtended at the anterior focal point of the eye by the detail of the letter or symbol recognized.

Visual field The area or extent of space visible to an eye in a given position.

Visual motor integration The ability to integrate visual information with fine motor movements.

Sources:

Hofstetter HW, Griffin JR, Berman MS, Everson RW. Dictionary of visual science and related clinical terms, 5th ed. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann, 2000.

Grosvenor TP. Primary care optometry. Anomalies of refraction and binocular vision, 4th ed. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann, 2002:567-80.